Public Document Pack

Meeting of:
Date:
Time:
Venue:

Planning and Licensing Committee
Thursday, 4th February, 2021
6.00 pm.
Zoom

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.
Item
No.
1

AGENDA

Page No

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence.

2

Minutes

3-5

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licensing
Committee held 21st January 2021.
3

Declarations of Interest
Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.

4

Urgent Items of Business
To determine whether there are any additional items of business
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

5

Land Rear Of 19 To 25 Innings Way, Rochdale

6 - 13

Proposal: Erection of one bungalow
6

Planning Appeals
To note the following appeals:

14 - 16

1. 19/00880/FUL – Carter’ Rest, 188 – 190 Spotland Road, Rochdale.
2. 20/00819/HOUS – 21 Bentgate Street, Milnrow.
Site visits:It has been agreed with the Chair of the Planning and Licensing
Committee that, in view of the current COVID-19 guidance specific to
Rochdale, there will be no site visits for the agenda items.
Members are free to view the application sites from public vantage
points without entering private property, and are encouraged to make
use of Google Earth and Google Streetview prior to the meeting.
The above guidance is reflected on page 15 of the PAS document:
“Probity in planning for councillors and officers”
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/probity-planningcouncill-d92.pdf

Planning and Licensing Committee Members
Councillor Shakil Ahmed
Councillor Phil Burke
Councillor Irene Davidson
Councillor Susan Emmott
Councillor Rachel Massey
Councillor Amna Mir
Councillor Shaun O'Neill
Councillor Faisal Rana
Councillor Aasim Rashid
Councillor Peter Rush
Councillor John Taylor
Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor Peter Winkler
Councillor Sameena Zaheer
Councillor Mohammed Zaman
For more information about this meeting, please contact:Peter Thompson
Committees and Constitutional Services
Rochdale Borough Council,
Number One Riverside
Rochdale
OL16 1XU
Telephone – 01706 924715
E-mail – peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2
PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE
MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 21st January 2021
PRESENT: Councillor Shakil Ahmed (in the Chair); Councillors Burke,
Davidson, Susan Emmott, Massey, O’Neill, Rana, Rashid, Rush, Taylor,
Winkler and Zaman.
OFFICERS: P. Moore (Head of Planning), E. Heron, R. Grant (Economy
Directorate), L. Adams, Z. Latif and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillor Emsley, Councillor Sullivan and three
members of the public.
41

APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mir, Wazir and Zaheer.

42

MINUTES
The Committee considered the Minutes of its most recent meeting held 3 rd
December 2020. Further to Minute 40 (The Soccer Village, Wildhouse Lane,
Milnrow), it was noted that the Council’s Planning Solicitor had updated the
Committee on the Section 106 Agreement, that was a condition of the
planning application’s approval. Given the various timescales involved and the
intention of the Developer to start work on site at the earliest opportunity, the
Planning Solicitor had advised that in this instance due to constitutional
requirements, National Policy and Advice and the Planning Performance
Agreement with the Applicant, that this matter proceed to completion of the
Section 106 Agreement prior to issue of the Planning Permission on the basis
of the Case Officer’s report and recommendation that the Section 106 monies
be utilised on the project located in the Smallbridge and Firgrove Ward
namely: ‘financial contributions of £104,000 towards Outdoor Sports Provision
for pavilion upgrades at Firgrove playing fields’.
Resolved:
1.
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licensing
Committee, held 3rd December 2020 be approved as a correct record.
2.
The Committee notes the advice of the Council’s Planning Solicitor in
respect of Minute 40 (The Soccer Village, Wildhouse Lane, Milnrow) and in
doing so confirms that the Section 106 monies, referred to in the report that
the Committee considered on 3rd December 2020, be utilised on financial
contributions of £104,000 towards Outdoor Sports Provision for pavilion
upgrades at Firgrove playing fields.

43

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interests.

44

36 NORFORD WAY, BAMFORD, ROCHDALE
The Head of Planning presented planning application 20/01364/HOUS, a
proposed part single, part double storey extension to the front and to the rear

Page 3

of the house.; the submitted application was a revised submission of
application number 20/00348/HOUS with juliet balconies added to the rear
bedrooms, at 36 Norford Way, Bamford, Rochdale.
The Committee received representations from Mrs. L. Forman who addressed
Members on behalf of the objectors to the application.
The Committee received representations from Ms. K. Bibby, the agent for the
applicant, who addressed Members in support of the application.
The Committee was addressed by Councillor Sullivan, a Bamford Ward
Member, in which Ward the proposed development was located.
Resolved:
That planning permission be refused due to a loss of privacy, the overbearing
impact to the residents to the immediate sides of 36 Norford Way and that the
development was out of character for the street.
NB: Councillors Davidson and Zaman arrived at the meeting during the
consideration of this planning application and as a consequence took no part
in the deliberation or consideration thereof.
45

HONRESFELD, HALIFAX ROAD LITTLEBOROUGH
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application
20/00764/FUL, for a proposed change of use from a care home to a single
detached dwelling with associated building and demolition works, the
demolition of the existing bungalow and the construction of six new detached
dwellings with associated servicing and external works, which was a
resubmission of planning application: 19/01091/FUL, at Honresfeld, Halifax
Road, Littleborough.
The Committee received representations from Mr. N. Longshaw, who
addressed Members on behalf of the applicant, in support of the application.
The Committee was addressed by Councillor Emsley, a Littleborough
Lakeside Member, in which Ward the proposed development was located, in
support of the application.

Resolved:
1. That planning permission be granted, subject to the Conditions that were
detailed in the Committee’s submitted report and also subject to the
completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure:
a.
A scheme for the restoration, retention and future management of the
identified historic features of Honresfeld home, including (but not limited to):
i. Historic windows (or suitable replacements to be agreed in writing by the
Council);
ii. Stone works and other finishes (where modern additions to Honresfeld house
are to be removed);
iii. The main nineteenth century structure of Honresfeld house, including
stonework, roofing materials and details such as finials;

Page 4

iv. All decorative features in the main fall of Honresfeld home, including timber
panelling, decorative plasterwork and coat of arms, ceiling details, fireplace
and surround, timber flooring including brass inlay and door and window
surrounds; and
v. Decorative features throughout Honresfeld home including; window
surrounds, plaster work, timber panelling and skirtings, timber doors including
ironmongery and brassware, timber and stone door surrounds, fireplace
surrounds including the stone, marble, mosaic, tiling and metalwork, staircase
including all decorative woodwork, ashlar stonework and quoins, terrazzo,
mosaic and tiled flooring, internal window features including decorative timber
panelling, shutters and pelmets.
b.
A Site Landscaping and Management Plan.
c.
A Phasing and Delivery Plan.
2. The Head of Planning be authorised to grant planning permission upon
execution of the above S106 agreement.
46

PLANNING APPEALS
The Head of Planning submitted a report which detailed planning applications,
listed below, that had recently been determined by the Planning Inspectorate:a. 19/01358/FUL - Land at Higher Birtle, near junction of Birtle Road and
Scotland Lane, Birtle, Rochdale
b. 20/00469/HOUS - 12 Birchinley Manor, Birchinley Lane, Milnrow.
c. 19/01179/FUL - Whitfield Barn, Calderbrook Road, Littleborough.
d. 19/0103/EUD - 24 Grandidge Street, Rochdale
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 5

Agenda Item 5
Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting

04 February 2021

Portfolio

Councillor John Blundell,
Cabinet Member for
a Thriving Economy.

Report Author

Mubeen Patel

Public/Private Document

Public

Application: 20/00713/FUL

Township: Rochdale

Applicant: Mr Ian MacLean

Ward: Castleton

Agent: N/a

Site Address: Land Rear Of 19 To 25 Innings Way, Rochdale
Proposal: Erection of one bungalow
SITE LOCATION

Page 6

DELEGATION
1.1

The application has been called up by Councillor Billy Sheerin. The grounds of the
call up are that there is a national shortage of bungalows; this single development
utilises a piece of scrub land, and will be beneficial to elderly residents or even, if
internally adapted, for a family with a physically disabled member.

PROPOSAL SUMMARY
2.1

Planning permission is sought for the erection of one detached 3 bedroom bungalow.

RECOMMENDATION
3.1

It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves to REFUSE
planning permission.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION
4.1

The proposed development would encroach into Protected Open Land and the
proposed bungalow, sited at the rear of an existing car park, amongst two storey
dwellings, would appear at odds with the established pattern of development and
character of its immediate surroundings. Furthermore, its isolated position relative to
the existing housing would relate poorly to it and would fail to maintain a strong
sense of place. The proposed development is therefore contrary to saved Policy D/10
of the UDP, Policies P3 and G5 of the adopted Core Strategy and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Page 7

SITE
The application site relates to a small parcel of land set to the rear of a row of dwellings
fronting Innings Way. It is set back approximately 25m from the highway boundary. The
intervening land forms a car parking area to which access is gained between 23 and 25
Innings Way. The site is elevated around 2.5m above the general level of the car park, the
adjacent dwellings and the highway. The site is separated from the car park by a 2m high
timber fence. There are several mature trees on the site.
PROPOSAL
The application proposes the erection of a detached bungalow. The bungalow would consist
of 3 bedrooms, lounge and a kitchen/diner. The Planning Statement submitted states that
the dwelling would be cut into the slope where its floor level would be approximately 0.5m
higher than the level of the adjacent car park. No plans to show the proposed levels have
been submitted. Access to the bungalow would be taken via the car park, with hardstanding
to the front providing car parking. The bungalow would be constructed of brickwork and roof
tiles with windows and doors of UPVC material.
No details of retaining walls or boundary treatments have been provided at this stage.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Rochdale Core Strategy (CS):
DM1
C1
C3
T2
P2
P3
G5
G7
G9

General development requirements
Delivering the right amount of housing in the right places
Delivering the right type of housing
Improving accessibility
Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
Improving design of new development
Managing protected open land
Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity
Reducing the impact of pollution, contamination and land instability

Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 2006:
D/10

Protection of open land

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):
Supplementary Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential
Development’ (June 2016)
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – February 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

RELEVANT HISTORY
The applicant submitted a Pre-application for the erection of a bungalow at the site
(PREAPP/00008/20), and the planning officer provided the following advice in writing (7th
April 2020);

Page 8

‘I would confirm my view expressed at the meeting that this site would conflict with
policy D10, which protects open land. In essence, it would be an isolated form of
back-land development, using a tandem access; apart from its encroachment into the
area of open space that otherwise contributes to the amenities of the area and is
identified for protection’.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU)
No objections to the application on either nature conservation or arboriculture grounds
RBC Drainage
The new building would be cut into a slope but no details have been provided. Since cutting
into a slope can affect drainage issues, the Applicant should provide some more details,
including contours on a drawings and details of whether a retaining wall is needed.
United Utilities
The site should be drained on a separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer
and surface water draining in the most sustainable way.
Highways and Engineering
No objections to this proposal.
Contamination Officer
Condition to be attached for a Site Investigation and risk assessment to be carried out.

TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL
N/a
MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS
A representations have been received from Councillor Billy Sheerin on the grounds that
there is a national shortage of bungalows. This single development utilises a piece of scrub
land, and will be beneficial to elderly residents or even, if internally adapted, for a family with
a physically disabled member.

PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
Objection Reps

4

Support Reps

1

Neutral Reps

0

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours and a site notice posted.
Objections received raised the following concerns;


Future occupiers will actually be crossing a private car park. The car park in question
is the parking for 21, 23 and 25 Innings Way, they pay a service charge weekly for
the up keep of the area, which was a requirement for these properties to be built by
Rochdale Council.

Page 9








We (Great Places Housing) strongly object to this proposal, nobody representing
those wanting to build this have been in contact with us regarding our land and we
will not allow our car park to be used as a vehicle access route for this property Officer response – This would be a separate legal issue and not material in the
consideration of this planning application.
Heavy goods, vehicles and machinery will create disruption to neighbouring
occupiers – Officer response – The disruption from construction would be for a
limited period. Construction activity itself is not a justification to withhold planning
permission.
Trees would be felled which provide sound proofing from the road behind leading to
sound pollution.
We wouldn’t have much privacy.

The letter of support submitted provided no further reasoning/details.

ANALYSIS
Principle of Development
1. The application site comprises greenfield (not previously developed) land outside the
Defined Urban Area and identified as Protected Open Land on the Proposals Map.
Saved Policy D/10 (Protected Open Land) of the UDP and G5 (Managing Protected
Open Land) of the adopted CS are restrictive in nature and seek to divert development
primarily towards sites within the Defined Urban Area.
2. Policy G5 of the adopted CS permits limited development that would be acceptable were
it in the green belt or small scale development which is consistent with other detailed
policies and site allocations in the Development Plan. Saved Policy D/10 of the UDP
permits certain forms of development, including ‘limited infilling within an established
pocket of housing where this is in scale with the area and will not adversely affect its
character or surroundings’.
3. The site lies within a residential area that is characterised mainly by recently constructed
two-storey semi-detached dwellings that have small front garden areas which follow
consistent building lines. The linear street pattern and rear garden areas are prevalent
and key features of the layout along Innings Way. A vehicular access exists between 23
and 25 Innings Way leading to a hardstanding area at the rear of the properties providing
car parking for dwellings on Innings Way.
4. This application relates to vegetated land adjoining the rear of the car park. The proposal
would be in a back-land location and cannot therefore be said to comprise infill
development. The development would encroach into Protected Open Land and be at
odds with the existing linear pattern of development. As a result, the bungalow would
appear at odds with the established pattern of development and layout of its immediate
surroundings.
5. As such, the proposed development would not fall within any of the categories permitted
under saved Policy D/10 of the UDP and Policy G5 of the adopted CS, and would result
in an adverse impact on the character of the surrounding area.
6. An online article has been provided by the applicant referring to research undertaken by
McCarthy and Stone which indicates a need for bungalow properties nationally.
However, National Planning Practice Guidance is clear that the development plan should
be the starting point to identify local housing needs and plan for housing for older people

Page 10

where an identified need exists. In addition, no evidence is provided by the applicant to
demonstrate that ‘urban’ brownfield and greenfield sites are not available to meet those
needs, rather that Protected Open Land. Rochdale currently has a 6.8 year supply of
housing land and therefore substantial weight is attached to the harm to the protected
open land, which provides a sense of relief from urban development and which
contributes to the character and identity of the urban edge. The proposal is therefore
contrary to Policy D/10 of the UDP and Policy G5 of the adopted CS, and would result in
an adverse impact on the character of the surrounding area.
Design, Character and Appearance
7. The dwelling offers a relatively simple single storey design to be constructed of brick and
roof tiles, in materials which in principle could suitably match those of the surrounding
dwellings. However, in this instance the proposal would introduce a detached bungalow
in a back land location amongst mainly two storey dwellings. The bungalow, sited at the
rear of an existing car park, would appear at odds with the established pattern of
development and character of its immediate surroundings. Furthermore, its isolated
position relative to the existing housing would relate poorly to it and as such, would fail to
maintain a strong sense of place and be harmful to the character of the area contrary to
Policy P3 of the adopted Core Strategy, the National Design Guide and the NPPF.
Trees and Ecology
8. The site has a large mature tree along the southern corner of the site, a couple of silver
birch trees towards the front and laurel hedging along the edges. One of the silver birch
trees would be relocated within the site. The GMEU have raised no objections to the
proposal on either nature conservation or arboriculture grounds.
9. GMEU consider that it is possible to retain trees on and close to the site, although the
trees which will be affected by the scheme are not of such high value that they merit
special protection and any losses would not be so egregious as to merit an objection to
the application on Arboriculture grounds.
Amenity
10. There are two habitable room windows in the western elevation of the bungalow, these
windows would face the rear elevation of Number 23 Innings Way at a distance of
approximately 16m, and this is considered acceptable given the distance would be
compatible with separation distances established in the surrounding development. The
development would not result in loss of privacy to the occupiers of the surrounding
properties.
11. An objection has been received concerning the removal of trees and potential noise as a
consequence from neighbouring streets to the rear. It is noted that trees are to be
retained, in addition, the nearest street to the rear is at a distance of 60m from existing
dwellings and approximately 35m from the proposed bungalow, is a side street and
therefore with minimal traffic. As such the increase in the amount of noise as a
consequence of the proposed development would be small given its location and
distance from noise generating uses.
12. In respect of the future occupiers of the bungalow, a retaining wall is likely to be
necessary however the internal arrangement and outdoor garden space would provide
acceptable living conditions. As such, the application accords with Policies P3 and DM1
of the Core Strategy, the Council’s SPD and the National Planning Policy Framework in
this regard.

Page 11

Access, Highways and Parking
13. Off street parking for 2no. vehicles is proposed within the curtilage on the hardstanding
area to the front of the bungalow. Objections have been received concerned that the
existing car park is to be used as a vehicle access route for the proposed property. The
Local Highways Authority have been consulted and view the access to be acceptable
and no objections are raised by the Planning Authority. Although it is acknowledged that
access to the proposed bungalow would be via a third party car park, permission to cross
over this land would be a private matter.
14. The proposed development would not generate significant vehicle movements. The site
is considered to be safe and sustainable in regard to highways considerations and no
objections are raised by the highways officer.
15. The proposal would therefore be in accordance with Policies DM1 and T2 of the adopted
Core Strategy and the NPPF.
Drainage and Flood Risk
16. The site falls within Flood Zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in
1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). The site is therefore
suitable for residential development in this respect, subject to appropriate wastewater and
surface water disposal to reduce the risks of flooding or aquatic pollution elsewhere.
17. No drainage proposals have been submitted as part of this application. The Council’s
Drainage Engineer has been consulted and advised that cutting into a slope can affect
drainage, the applicant should therefore provide more details, including contours on a
drawing and details of whether a retaining wall is needed.
18. Given the application is recommended for refusal, it is not expedient to request a detailed
drainage scheme, however the requirements of Policy G8 of the Core Strategy and the
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework would need to be satisfied with a
comprehensive drainage scheme.
Land Contamination and Stability
19. No reports have been submitted assessing contamination risks on site or slope stability.
A retaining wall would however be required for the development to proceed and
contamination would need to be appropriately assessed before any construction works
were to commence and secured by condition to accord with policy G9 of the adopted
Core Strategy and the NPPF.

Conclusion
20. The proposed development would encroach into Protected Open Land and the proposed
bungalow, sited at the rear of an existing car park, amongst two storey dwellings, would
appear at odds with the established pattern of development and character of its
immediate surroundings. Furthermore, its isolated position relative to the existing
housing would relate poorly to it and would fail to maintain a strong sense of place. The
proposed development is therefore contrary to saved Policy D/10 of the UDP, Policies
P3 and G5 of the adopted Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

RECOMMENDATION

Page 12

It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves to REFUSE
planning permission for the following reason:1

The proposed development would encroach into Protected Open Land and the
proposed bungalow, sited at the rear of an existing car park, amongst two storey
dwellings, would appear at odds with the established pattern of development and
character of its immediate surroundings. Furthermore, its isolated position relative to
the existing housing would relate poorly to it and would fail to maintain a strong
sense of place. The proposed development is therefore contrary to saved Policy D/10
of the UDP, Policies P3 and G5 of the adopted Core Strategy and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Page 13

Agenda Item 6
Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

04 February 2021
Councillor John Blundell,
Cabinet Member for
a Thriving Economy
Mubeen Patel
Public

Report Author
Public/Private Document

Application: 19/00880/FUL

Township: Rochdale

Appeal Reference:APP/P4225/W/20/3258888

Ward: Spotland & Falinge

Decision level: Delegated

Site Address: Carters Rest, 188 - 190 Spotland Road, Rochdale, OL12 7AF
Proposal: Change of use and subdivision of premises to form one dwellinghouse, and a hot
food takeaway at ground floor and apartments (2no.) at first and second floors.
Applicant: Mr Mohammed Khalid

Agent: Mr Mohammed Zohaib

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 14 January 2021









The application was refused for three reasons;
1) Due to the proposed hot food takeaway falling within the 400 metre exclusion buffer
around Falinge Park High School resulting in a detrimental impact on children's health;
2) The proposed two self-contained residential flats at first and second floor levels, by
reason of the proposed hot food takeaway at ground floor level, would lead to an
intensification in comings and goings from the property to the detriment of the amenity of
occupiers of these properties by virtue of noise, disturbance and cooking odours; and
3) The proposed flue, by reason of its siting would give rise to noise and odour nuisance
that would cause harm to the living conditions of the occupants of the self-contained flats
above the proposed takeaway business.
The Inspector agreed with all 3 reasons for refusal. In relation to reason 1) the inspector
agreed that the location of the hot food takeaway was contrary to the Council’s SPD. The
Inspector opined that the Council via the SPD is committed to reducing pupils’ access to
unhealthy food options thereby improving the health of its residents and reducing
childhood obesity. In the absence of any substantive evidence to the contrary, the
inspector viewed that the evidence used to formulate the adopted SPD (Hot food
takeaways) justifies the approach taken.
In terms of living conditions, the inspector stated that it was highly likely that future
occupiers of the residential units would experience unacceptable noise and disturbance
caused by customers coming and going, or from customers congregating outside before
continuing their journey home. No detailed scheme for sound insulation of the ceiling was
provided, and the inspector asserted that he could not be certain that the living conditions
of future occupiers of either the apartments above or the adjoining house would not be
harmed from the operation of the takeaway.
The inspector found that the proposed extraction system would be insufficient in its
location on the flat roof of the single storey section as it would not be at a height that
would ensure that neighbouring residents would not experience excess levels of odour.
The inspector acknowledged that the proposed development would bring a building within
the Conservation Area back into use with social and economic benefits. However, these
factors did not outweigh the reasons for refusal.

Page 14

Page 15

Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

04 February 2021
Councillor John Blundell,
Cabinet Member for
a Thriving Economy
Majid Mir
Public

Report Author
Public/Private Document
Application: 20/00819/HOUS

Township: Pennines

Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/D/20/3260279

Ward: Milnrow & Newhey

Decision level: Delegated

Site Address: 21 Bentgate Street, Milnrow, OL16 4JS
Proposal: Single storey side and rear extension - Resubmission of 20/00427/HOUS
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Knowles

Agent: Mr Kelly

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 19th January 2021
 The application was refused as the siting, size and design of the extension would
have led to an inappropriate addition. On a prominent corner property, it would
have had an unacceptable impact on the character and appearance of the street.
 Though the extension would have been set back and screened from some
vantage points, the inspector considered that due to the open, corner location of
the property, it would have been clearly visible, particularly when viewed from
Hawthorne Lane and the junction with Bentgate Street.
 The inspector noted that small scaled, flat roofed extensions and outbuildings can
be commonly found on similar corner properties in the vicinity. In comparison, the
extension would have had a footprint that was significant in relation to the host
property. The inspector believed that the large expanse of the flat roof would have
been a conspicuous feature in the street scene, and would have been at odds with
the smaller, more low key, flat roofed buildings in the surrounding area.
 The inspector stated that owing to its siting and large flat roof, the extension would
fail to respect the host property and would cause harm to the character and
appearance of the area. The inspector did not believe that using matching
materials, windows and doors, would have been sufficient to overcome this harm.
 The inspector found the extension would have been in conflict with policies DM1
and P3 of the Core Strategy and the Guidelines and Standards for Residential
Development SPD. The inspector pointed to the requirements of the Core
Strategy and SPD for developments to be of high quality design which respects
context and be in keeping with the host property.
 The inspector concluded that the proposal would have been in conflict with the
development plan as a whole and no other considerations outweighed the conflict.

Page 16

